
 Continued Over/: 

Issued on Monday 26 June 2017 

 
 

 
Alison Broom, Chief Executive, Maidstone Borough Council,  

Maidstone House, King Street, Maidstone ME15 6JQ 

 

AGENDA 
 

HERITAGE, CULTURE AND 

LEISURE COMMITTEE 

MEETING 
 

 

 
 

 

Date: Tuesday 4 July 2017 
Time: 6.45 pm or at the conclusion of the Headcorn 

Aerodrome Presentation, whichever is the later 
Venue: Town Hall, High Street, Maidstone 
            
Membership: 

 

Councillors  Mrs Blackmore, Butler, Ells (Vice-Chairman), Fort, Hastie, 

Mrs Hinder, Lewins, Pickett (Chairman) and Mrs Wilson 

 Page No. 

 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Notification of Substitute Members   

3. Urgent Items   

4. Notification of Visiting Members   

5. Disclosures by Members and Officers   

6. Disclosures of Lobbying   

7. To consider whether any items should be taken in private 
because of the possible disclosure of exempt information  

 

8. Minutes of the meeting held on 6 June 2017  1 - 5 

9. Presentation of Petitions (if any)   

10. Questions and answer session for members of the public   



 
 

11. Committee Work Programme  6 

12. Maidstone Parks & Open Spaces 10 Year Plan  7 - 44 

13. Museum 20 Year Plan  45 - 71 

PUBLIC SPEAKING 

In order to book a slot to speak at this meeting of the Heritage, Culture & Leisure 
Committee, please contact Ezzie Tunnicliff on 01622 602272 or by email on 
ezzietunnicliff@maidstone.gov.uk by 5 pm one clear working day before the meeting. If 
asking a question, you will need to provide the full text in writing. If making a statement, 
you will need to tell us which agenda item you wish to speak on. Please note that slots will 
be allocated on a first come, first served basis.  

  

ALTERNATIVE FORMATS 

The reports included in Part I of this agenda can be available in alternative formats.  For 
further information about this service, or to arrange for special facilities to be provided at 
the meeting, please contact Democratic Services on 
committeeservices@maidstone.gov.uk or 01622 602272.  To find out more about 
the work of the Committee, please visit www.maidstone.gov.uk  
 

 



 

 1  

Should you wish to refer any decisions contained in these minutes to Policy 
and Resources Committee, please submit a Decision Referral Form, signed by 
three Councillors, to the Head of Policy and Communications by: 20 June 2017 

MAIDSTONE BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

Heritage, Culture and Leisure Committee 

 
MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON TUESDAY 6 JUNE 2017 
 
Present:  Councillor Pickett (Chairman) and Councillors Mrs 

Blackmore, Butler, Ells, Fort, Hastie, Mrs Hinder, 
Lewins and Mrs Wilson 

 
Also Present: Councillors English and Perry 
 
 

6. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
There were no apologies. 
 

7. NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS  
 
There were no substitutes. 
 

8. URGENT ITEMS  
 
It was noted that there was an updated recommendation for Item 13 – 
Bereavement Services – Developing Services.  
 

9. NOTIFICATION OF VISITING MEMBERS  
 
It was noted that Councillors English and Perry were present as Visiting 
Members. 
 

10. DISCLOSURES BY MEMBERS AND OFFICERS  
 
There were no disclosures by Members or Officers. 
 

11. DISCLOSURES OF LOBBYING  
 
There were no disclosures of lobbying. 
 

12. EXEMPT ITEMS  
 
RESOLVED: That all items be taken in public as proposed. 
 

13. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 4 APRIL 2017  
 
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 4 April 2017 be 
approved as a correct record and signed, subject to the amendment of the 
last word of Paragraph 2, Item 146 on Page 2, to read as follows: 
 

Agenda Item 8

1



 

 2  

Should you wish to refer any decisions contained in these minutes to Policy 
and Resources Committee, please submit a Decision Referral Form, signed by 
three Councillors, to the Head of Policy and Communications by: 20 June 2017 

The Committee noted that the design created a sense of arrival at 
Maidstone East Station and ensured that visitors would appreciate the 
history of Maidstone through the timeline placed on the ground. 
 

14. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 23 MAY 2017  
 
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 23 May 2017 be 
approved as a correct record and signed. 
 

15. PRESENTATION OF PETITIONS (IF ANY)  
 
There were no petitions. 
 

16. QUESTIONS AND ANSWER SESSION FOR MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  
 
There were no questions or statements from members of the public. 
 

17. COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME  
 
The Committee considered the Committee Work Programme for 2017/18. 
 
It was noted that the annual report referred to in decision number 2 on 
Page 3 of the minutes, of the meeting held on 4 April 2017, had not been 
added to the Committee Work Programme. 
 
The Chairman advised the Committee that the ‘Parks and Open Spaces 10 
Year Plan’ would likely be considered by the Committee in September.  
 
RESOLVED: That the Committee Work Programme be noted. 
 

18. BEREAVEMENT SERVICES - DEVELOPING SERVICES  
 
The Head of Environment and Public Realm gave a presentation to the 
Committee regarding the future development of Bereavement Services. 
 
It was noted that, in June 2016, this Committee agreed to submit a 
planning application for a pet crematorium and car park expansion at 
Vinters Park Crematorium. This was based on a business case which was 
prepared prior to the original agreement by Cabinet in February 2015. A 
new business case had since been prepared because it was deemed 
appropriate to update it according to current market conditions. Using the 
data, it was projected that the Capital payback would be between 7 and a 
half and 12 years depending on the level of direct sales achieved, which 
presented a greater risk compared to the previous business plan. 
 
The Head of Environment and Public Realm advised the Committee on 
options that were available to improve the cemetery, for both staff and 
the public. In response to a question raised by the Committee, the Head 
of Environment and Public Realm assured the Committee that there was 
still significant capacity at the cemetery and agreed to include the future 
capacity of the cemetery in the business case when it was presented to 
the Committee. 

2



 

 3  

Should you wish to refer any decisions contained in these minutes to Policy 
and Resources Committee, please submit a Decision Referral Form, signed by 
three Councillors, to the Head of Policy and Communications by: 20 June 2017 

 
The Committee considered whether off site storage was an option for 
paper records. However, the Head of Environment and Public Realm 
advised the Committee that a large number of people came to the 
crematorium in order to speak with the Cemetery Officer and view the 
records there. 
 
In response to questions from Members, the officers explained that: 
 

• It was the storage area at the Crematorium that required fire 
proofing, rather than the records. 
 

• The money allocated in the Capital Programme for the Pet 
Crematorium would be carried forward as this project was not 
sustainable at this time. 
 

• It was not necessary to refer the issue for capital funding back to 
the Policy and Resources Committee. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the Pet Crematorium project be suspended and reviewed in 
2020/21, or sooner if markets dictate or partnership opportunities 
can be identified.  

 
2. That Bereavement Services will focus on the delivery and 

improvement of its core business.  
 

3. That £220,000 set aside in the Capital Programme for the Pet 
Crematorium be invested in the expansion of the Vinters Park 
Crematorium car park and improvements to disabled access. 

 
4. That £30,000 from the Capital Programme be used for heat 

recovery from the cremators and fire proofing the storage area for 
paper records held at the Crematorium.  

 
5. That a business case be prepared and presented to this Committee 

seeking Capital funding for improvements at Maidstone Cemetery, 
specifically the repair and reopening of the Chapel and the 
dismantling of the disused Groundsman’s House and extension of 
the Cremated Remains Section. 
 

Voting: Unanimous 
 

19. STRATEGIC PLAN PERFORMANCE UPDATE QUARTER 4 FOR HCL  
 
The Director of Finance and Business Improvement presented this item to 
the Committee. The Committee noted that: 
 

• 60% of KPIs reported this quarter achieved their target for quarter 
4; and 
 

3



 

 4  

Should you wish to refer any decisions contained in these minutes to Policy 
and Resources Committee, please submit a Decision Referral Form, signed by 
three Councillors, to the Head of Policy and Communications by: 20 June 2017 

• 100% of indicators had shown an increase in performance 
compared to the same quarter last year, where comparative data 
was available. 

 
The Committee raised concerns about the footfall at the Museum and 
Visitor Information Centre. The Museum Director concurred that the 
figures had been disappointing and that this was related to national 
trends. In order to increase the footfall at the Museum, the Museum 
Director informed the Committee that: 
 

• The Museum was continuing to run a series of ‘Museum Lates’ in 
order to attract new audiences through word of mouth; 
 

• There was an exciting new Ancient Lives Gallery opening in 
September; and 
 

• The Museum was developing the relationship with Fremlin Walk in 
order to increase awareness of the Museum to those visiting the 
shopping centre. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the summary of performance of Key Performance Indicators 
and corporate strategies and plans for Quarter 4 of 2016/17 be 
noted. 

2. That no action needs to be taken nor amendments made to the 
Quarter 4 Performance Update report. 

3. That Appendix II, the Quarter 4 Strategic Plan Action Plan Update, 
be noted. 

 
Voting: Unanimous 
 

20. FOURTH QUARTER BUDGET MONITORING  
 
The Director of Finance and Business Improvement made a presentation 
to the Committee relating to budgets within the Committee’s remit for the 
fourth quarter of 2016/17. 
 
The Committee noted that:  
 

• There was an overall underspend for services within the 
Committee’s remit of £69,199.  
 

• There was an overspend of £169,757 for the Mote Park Café due to 
higher than budgeted staff costs, but this figure was less than had 
been projected previously.  

 
• The solar panels installed at Mote Park Leisure Centre were meant 

to provide a return to the Council, but as yet there had been no 
return as the mechanics of the calculation had not been 
established. A meeting had been arranged with SERCO to resolve 
this issue.  

4



 

 5  

Should you wish to refer any decisions contained in these minutes to Policy 
and Resources Committee, please submit a Decision Referral Form, signed by 
three Councillors, to the Head of Policy and Communications by: 20 June 2017 

 
• Cobtree Manor Golf Course had overspent by £36,917 for 2016/17 

because the contract had ended with the operator. This meant that 
the Council had to pay the operator to run the Golf Course, rather 
than the operator paying the Council. 

 
RESOLVED: That the financial position for services within the remit of the 
Committee at the end of the fourth quarter be noted.  
 
Voting: Unanimous 
 

21. DURATION OF MEETING  
 
6.30 p.m. to 8.08 p.m. 
 
 

5



 2017/18 WORK PROGRAMME SORTED BY COMMITTEE

Report Title Work Stream Committee Month Lead Report Author

Parks and Open Spaces 10 Year Plan New/Updates to Strategies & Policies HCL Jul-17 Dawn Hudd Jason Taylor

Presentation from Headcorn Aerodrome Updates, Monitoring Reports and Reviews HCL Jul-17 External Victoria Barlow

Museums 20 Year Strategic Plan Updates, Monitoring Reports and Reviews HCL Jul-17 Dawn Hudd Victoria Barlow

Plaques and People Protocol New/Updates to Strategies & Policies HCL Sep-17 David Pickett Dawn Hudd

Café operations appointment of contractor Changes to Services & Commissioning HCL Sep-17 Dawn Hudd Dawn Hudd

Museum Future Governance Options Changes to Services & Commissioning HCL Sep-17 External Victoria Barlow

First Quarter Budget Monitoring Corporate Finance and Budgets HCL Sep-17 Ellie Dunnet Paul Holland

Biodiversity Action Plan New/Updates to Strategies & Policies HCL Sep-17 Jennifer Shepherd Philip Newcombe

Play Area Strategy New/Updates to Strategies & Policies HCL Sep-17 Dawn Hudd Jason Taylor

Q1 Performance Report 2017/18 Updates, Monitoring Reports and Reviews HCL Sep-17 Angela Woodhouse Anna Collier

Tourism Destination Management Plan - Progress Update Updates, Monitoring Reports and Reviews HCL Sep-17 Dawn Hudd Laura Dickson

Disposal of Land at Hayle Place Changes to Services & Commissioning HCL Sep-17 Dawn Hudd Jason Taylor

Second Quarter Budget Monitoring Corporate Finance and Budgets HCL Nov-17 Ellie Dunnet Paul Holland

Q2 Performance Report 2017/18 Updates, Monitoring Reports and Reviews HCL Nov-17 Angela Woodhouse Anna Collier

Festival and Events Update Updates, Monitoring Reports and Reviews HCL Dec-17 Dawn Hudd Laura Dickson

Tourism Destination Management Plan - Progress Update Updates, Monitoring Reports and Reviews HCL Dec-17 Dawn Hudd Laura Dickson

Fees & Charges Corporate Finance and Budgets HCL Jan-18 Mark Green Ellie Dunnet

Medium Term Financial Strategy & Budget Proposals 2018/19 Corporate Finance and Budgets HCL Jan-18 Mark Green Ellie Dunnet

Strategic Plan Action Plan 2018/19 Corporate Planning HCL Jan-18 Angela Woodhouse Angela Woodhouse 

Setting new Key Performance Indicators (please note that there will be 

workshops with each committee prior to the report in January/February)
Corporate Planning HCL Feb-18 Angela Woodhouse Anna Collier

Q3 Performance Report 2017/18 Updates, Monitoring Reports and Reviews HCL Feb-18 Angela Woodhouse Anna Collier

1

A
g

e
n

d
a

 Ite
m

 1
1

6



 

1 
 

Heritage, Culture and Leisure Committee  4 July 2017 

Is the final decision on the recommendations in this report to be made at this meeting? Yes 

 

Maidstone Borough Council Parks and Open Spaces 10 Year Plan Draft 

 

Final Decision-Maker Heritage Culture and Leisure Committee 

Lead Director or Head of Service Head of Regeneration and Economic Development 

Lead Officer and Report Author Jason Taylor, Leisure Manager 

Classification Non-exempt 

Wards affected All Wards 

  

This report makes the following recommendations to the final decision-maker: 

That the Heritage, Culture and Leisure Committee adopt the Parks and Open Spaces 10 Year 
Plan at Appendix I. 

 

  

This report relates to the following corporate priorities: 

• Keeping Maidstone borough an attractive place for all. 

o Providing a clean and safe environment 

o Encouraging Good Health and wellbeing 

o Respecting the Character and Heritage of our Borough 

o Ensuring there are Good Leisure and Cultural Attractions 

 

  

Timetable 

Meeting Date 

Corporate Leadership Team 20 June  2017 

Heritage, Culture and Leisure Committee  4 July 2017 

Agenda Item 12

7



 

2 
 

Maidstone Borough Council Parks and Open Spaces 10 Year Plan 

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report introduces the final version of the Maidstone Parks and Open Spaces 10 

Year Plan, which deals with how Maidstone Borough Council (MBC) will manage the 
parks and open spaces that are under its control in the future.  

 
1.2 Given the pressure on budgets and resources every part of MBC must consider 

carefully how its services are delivered; and this is particularly important for non-
statutory services, including Parks and Open Spaces. 

 
1.3 This plan sets out how the challenges ahead will be met, using the evidence base 

produced for the Local Plan and the results of the Residents’ Survey.  It explains the 
correlation between it and other MBC strategic documents, and shared targets and 
objectives. 
 

1.4 The plan introduces priorities and principles that will shape our parks and open 
spaces in the future, and details how these will be achieved. It presents a Quality: 
Value Matrix which will help ensure that in future resources are targeted at areas 
where they will have the biggest impact on the lives of residents and visitors, and 
provides a route map for the short, medium and longer term, ensuring that MBC 
Parks and Open spaces are well-prepared for the challenges that lay ahead.  

 

 
2. BACKGROUND  

 
2.1 It was originally agreed in March 2016 that a Parks and Open Spaces 10 Year Plan 

was needed and a report was brought to HCL Committee explaining how this would 
be achieved. 
 

2.2 This project has gone through several iterations, with input from Members and senior 
council officers. 

 
2.3 The final draft was produced by Val Hyland Associates who consolidated the 

information gathered into a shorter concise document. 
 

2.4 Cllr Pickett, the Chair of Heritage, Culture and Leisure Committee and Cllr Lewins, a 
member of the Committee, have both been involved in the production of the Parks 
and Open Spaces 10 Year Plan, having met with officers and received regular drafts 
as the document has progressed. 
 

2.5 On 7 March 2017 a workshop was held which was open to all Councillors, which 
enabled wider comments and suggestions to be fed into the final document. 

 

 
3. PURPOSE OF THE PARKS AND OPEN SPACES 10 YEAR PLAN 

 
3.1 The purpose of this plan was set out in the report to HCL Committee on March 1  

2016 as follows: 
 
“This project looks at the value and purpose of parks and open spaces in the Borough 
and how we currently manage them. It will ultimately provide an outline of how we 

8



 

3 
 

should manage them in the future to ensure their sustainability. 
 
“Having a clear adopted 10 Year Plan will enable us to make best use of the 
resources available to us, bid to any relevant funding schemes which become 
available, have a clear set of objectives which we have agreed with our stakeholders, 
ensure that we put in place the most effective and efficient management 
arrangements for the future, and encourage the use of our parks and open spaces by 
residents and visitors whilst contributing to the health and wellbeing agenda.” 
 

3.2 The report detailed how the work would be carried out in three stages: 
 

3.2.1 Stage 1 
A review of our parks and open spaces to include: Parks, Play Areas, Allotments, 
Sports Pitches, Natural/Semi Natural open space and Events and how we manage 
and run them. This review will look at our own provision and compare it to how parks 
and open spaces belonging to others organisations are managed. There will be a 
review of how the value of green space is measured. This will involve reviewing 
academic research, online research and looking at case studies, to find good 
examples of best practice in other organisations that are managing their parks and 
open spaces with their future sustainability in mind. If appropriate, site visits will be 
arranged to view best practice elsewhere and to interview those involved in managing 
these sites. 
 

3.2.2 Stage 2 
Identifying any issues we currently have with the ongoing management of our parks 
and open spaces, compare how others deal with these issues and propose solutions 
on how MBC can resolve these issues in the future. 
 

3.2.3 Stage 3 
Production of a Draft Parks and Open Spaces 10 Year Plan incorporating the work 
carried out above. 

 

 

4. PRODUCTION OF THE PARKS AND OPEN SPACES 10 YEAR PLAN 

 

4.1 The initial research for the plan was carried out and a first draft produced by the 
Parks and Leisure Manger. The research involved a desk top study of available 
research, evidence and other studies into the provision and management of Parks 
and Open Spaces, and the changes and benefits that they can have for the 
communities that live and work near to them and for the people that visit them.  

 
4.2 This investigation included reviewing the considerable amount of data that MBC had 

collected on existing Parks and Open Spaces in the borough for the production of the 
Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy, which was adopted in 2016. Data had been 
updated on the amount of green spaces in the borough, how these were used, who 
they belonged to, where they were located and the quality of these spaces. This 
enabled us to get a very good picture of the current stock of green space in the 
borough. 
 

4.3 Information was also held on what residents thought about the boroughs parks and 
open spaces from a telephone survey carried out in 2015. 
 

4.4 Through using the adopted green space standards in the Local Plan and by looking at 
where future development will be located, it is possible to assess not only current 

9



 

4 
 

areas of under provision of green space, but also where these would be in the future. 
 

4.5 Following this initial research, visits were arranged to a number of ’exemplar’ Parks to 
see how they were managed to have a positive impact on the lives of their residents 
and visitors that used them. During these visits the managers of these parks were 
interviewed regarding how they managed their parks. 
 

4.6 The Parks visited included: 
 

• Victoria Park, Tower Hamlets. Serial winner in the People’s Choice Award for 
the Nations Favourite Park. 

• Margham Park, Port Talbot. This park was voted 2nd in the People’s Choice 
Awards for the Nations Favourite Park. 

• Bewl Water, Kent. A commercially operated open space. 

• Bedgeburry Pinetum, Kent. A Forestry Commission site operated through a 
Friends Group. 
Dansen Park, Bexley. A council operated park with commercial activities. 
 

4.6.1 A considerable amount of time was spent looking at the health profiles of the wards in 
Maidstone Borough and how Parks and Open spaces could be used to improve the 
health and wellbeing of their residents. This was done with the cooperation of the 
Kent County Council Public Health Observatory and the MBC Community 
Partnerships and Resilience Team. 
 

4.6.2 A meeting also took place with the Chair of one of the Local Clinical Commissioning 
Groups to discuss his thoughts on how Parks and Open Spaces could be used to 
improve the health and wellbeing of patients. 
 

4.6.3 The cost of managing Parks and Opens Spaces was reviewed and analysis carried 
out to look at what impact budget cuts would have on service provision. 
 

4.6.4 This work produced an initial document and large body of evidence.  It was then 
agreed to bring in an external consultant to use this work to produce a concise 10 
year Parks and Open Spaces Plan. 
 

4.6.5 The document has progressed through a number of drafts including the one which 
was taken by the consultants to a Parks and Open Spaces 10 Year Plan Workshop in 
March this year. Comments from this workshop have been added to the final 
document enclosed as appendix 1. 
 

4.7 Structure of Parks and Open Spaces 10 Year Plan 
 

4.7.1 The final document is set out in three parts: 
 
Part 1 - states why our open spaces are so important, and provides some 
background about Maidstone’s open spaces. 
 
Part 2 - sets out the challenges ahead. 
 
Part 3 - sets out the way forward, service priorities and principles and the actions 
needed to achieve these. 
 

4.7.2 Pages 8 and 9 show how the Parks and Open Spaces 10 Year Plan fits in with the 
MBC Strategic Plan and how it contributes to delivering Maidstone’s supporting 
strategies. 

10



 

5 
 

 
4.7.3 There are important links with a number of existing MBC documents, particularly the 

following documents: 
 

4.8 Maidstone  Biodiversity Action Plan 2009-2014 
 

4.8.1 Local targets for the conservation of wildlife are set through the Maidstone Local 
Biodiversity Action Plan (LBAP). The LBAP provides the local context for a wider 
hierarchy, linking into the county Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP), regional BAP and 
national BAP. 
 

4.8.2 This Maidstone BAP identifies Biodiversity Opportunity Areas where available 
resources can be used to maximum effect to improve priority habitats. 
 

4.8.3 It is proposed that a light touch review of this document will be carried out by the 
Parks and Open Spaces team in the first year following the adoption of the Parks and 
Open Spaces 10 Year Plan. 
 

4.9 Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy 
The Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy was produced to provide information for 
the Maidstone Local Plan. The document is borough wide and provides information 
on the current quantity and quality of the 5 different types of open space. It sets the 
open space standards for the whole of the borough. 
 

4.10 Health Inequalities Action Plan 
This Plan sets out plans to tackle health inequalities across the borough. It highlights 
how living in areas of low income, poor employment and poor infrastructure increases 
the risk of ill health. Currently there is a 9 year difference in life expectancy depending 
on where you live in the borough. 
 

4.11 The priorities of the Parks and Open Spaces 10 year plan can be seen in the table 
on page 14 of the plan but consist of the following priorities and principles: 
 

4.11.1 Priority 1 Open Spaces supporting Vibrant and Healthy Communities 
Principle 1A - Open spaces will be accessible to all residents  
Principle 1B - Social, environmental and economic benefits will be 
maximised. 
 

4.11.2 Priority 2  Open Spaces Fit for the Future 
Principle 2A - The open space needs of future populations will be met 
Principle 2B - The long-term management of Parks and Open Spaces will be 
secured. 
 

4.11.3 Priority 3  Quality Spaces - Quality Service 
Principle 3A - Quality open spaces will serve community needs 
Principle 3B - The Service will seek continual improvement - invest and 
enhance. 
 

 

 

5. DELIVERING THE 10 YEAR PLAN 

 
5.1 In order to deliver the Priorities, 4 Key Action Areas have been identified: 

 

11



 

6 
 

5.1.1 Action Area 1: An Open Spaces Estate which best serves Maidstone’s needs 
This action area details how the Quality: Value Matrix will be used to target resources 
to the areas where they are most needed.  
 

5.1.2 Action Area 2: Providing Open Spaces for a Changing Population 
The population of the borough is going to increase significantly in the coming years, 
this action area details how we will ensure that both the quantity and quality of our 
Parks and Open Spaces adapt to the needs of residents in the future. 
 

5.1.3 Action Area 3: Connected Delivery – Multiple Benefits 
Parks and Open Spaces need to deliver social, environmental and economic benefits 
better, and to do this means we need to work in partnership with others. This action 
area sets out how this will be achieved. 
 

5.1.4 Action Area 4: Working Smarter – This details how we will need to be more 
effective, efficient and targeted to continue to deliver a good service with fewer 
resources. 

 
5.2 Annual Forward Plans 

On adoption of the Parks and Open Spaces 10 Year Strategy, annual forward plans 
will be produced which set out what will be achieved each year. These will be 
produced for each of the action areas and will be focussed to achieve the 3 priorities 
set out in the plan.  Responsibility for implementation, and for producing and carrying 
out the Annual Forward Plans, will be with the Parks and Open Spaces Team. 
 
The implementation will be funded from existing budgets and will form part of the 
Parks and Open Spaces Service Plan. 
 

 
6 AVAILABLE OPTIONS 
 
6.1 HCL Committee adopts the Parks and Open Spaces 10 Year Plan – this is the 

recommended option. 
 

6.2 HCL Committee chooses not to adopt the Parks and Open Spaces 10 Year Plan –this 
option is not recommended. 

 

 
7 PREFERRED OPTION AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
7.1 The preferred option is that HCL Committee adopt the Parks and Open Spaces 10 

Year Plan, for the following reasons: 
 

7.1.1 To ensure high quality, attractive parks and open spaces are provided to serve a 
range of needs for our current and future residents and visitors, as Maidstone 
continues to grow. 
 

7.1.2 To ensure that the provision and management of open spaces is sustainable in a 
future with less public sector funding. 
 

7.1.3 Address the difficult issues we are facing and provide a sound basis for decision-
making. 
 

12



 

7 
 

7.1.4 Ensure that parks and open spaces effectively support the delivery of Maidstone’s 
Strategic Plan. 
 

7.1.5 Provide a clear direction which MBC and its partners can unite around. 
 

 
8 CONSULTATION RESULTS AND PREVIOUS COMMITTEE FEEDBACK 
 
8.1 A consultation workshop open to all members was carried out on 7 March 2017. At 

this workshop the latest draft of the local plan was presented to members by Val 
Hyland Associates. This led to a number of comments and suggestions from 
members and following this meeting changes were made to the document. 
 

8.2 Cllr’s Picket and Lewins, have represented HCL Committee and had considerable 
input into the development of this document, 

 

 
9 NEXT STEPS: COMMUNICATION AND IMPLEMENTATION OF THE DECISION 
 
9.1 Once the plan is adopted the Parks and Open Spaces Team will implement the plan. 

 
9.2 The first year’s action plan will involve doing the groundwork to produce short, 

medium and long term objectives for the 10 Years of the plan. 
 

9.3 This will include programming in the evaluation of sites using the Value: Quality 
Matrix. 

 

 
10 CROSS-CUTTING ISSUES AND IMPLICATIONS 
 

Issue Implications Sign-off 

Impact on Corporate 
Priorities 

This Plan impacts on a number of 
priorities under Keeping Maidstone 
borough an attractive place for all. 

o Providing a clean and safe 
environment 

o Encouraging Good Health and 
wellbeing 

o Respecting the Character and 
Heritage of our Borough 

o Ensuring there are Good 
Leisure and Cultural 
Attractions 

Head of 
Regeneration 
and Economic 
Development. 

Risk Management None identified. Head of 
Regeneration 
and Economic 
Development. 

Financial  [Section 151 
Officer & 
Finance Team] 

Staffing  [Head of 
Service] 

13



 

8 
 

Legal None identified Team Leader 
(Contracts and 
Commissioning) 
MKLS 

Equality Impact Needs 
Assessment 

EIAs will be conducted for any changes to 
the service provided through the Plan. 

Head of 
Regeneration 
and Economic 
Development. 

Environmental/Sustainable 
Development 

 [Head of 
Service or 
Manager] 

Community Safety  [Head of 
Service or 
Manager] 

Human Rights Act None  

Procurement None  

Asset Management This plan sets out how we will manage 
are parks assets over the next 10 years. 

Head of 
Regeneration 
and Economic 
Development. 

 
11 REPORT APPENDICES 
 
The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the report: 

Appendix 1 Parks and Open Spaces 10 Year Plan 

 
 

 
12 BACKGROUND PAPERS  
 
None 

14



1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Maidstone’s Parks & 

Open Spaces 
 

10 Year Strategic Plan 

 
2017 - 2027 

 

 

 
Final June 2017  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

15



2 

 

Foreword  
 

Maidstone is proud of its parks and open spaces.  They provide a sense of place, an 

attractive environment for those living and working in the borough, play a vital role in 

supporting health and well-being and provide a haven for wildlife.  As the population of the 

borough grows it is more important than ever to protect these important open spaces. 

 

The borough council is responsible for a unique heritage; with exemplars of municipal 

parks from the 19th to the 21st century, from the historic Mote Park and Brenchley Gardens 

to the Millennium Whatman Park. The borough’s parks and open spaces also play a vital 

role in supporting and conserving our natural heritage. With its urban and rural network of 

open spaces, churchyards, allotments, riverside areas and highway verges, the borough 

can play its part in reversing the wider decline in our native flora and fauna. 

 

This Parks and Open Spaces Strategic Plan recognises the benefits our parks and open 

spaces bring to local communities, for healthier living, play and recreation, but also for the 

benefits they bring to our local economy. 

 

This Plan sets out the Council’s intention for the future of our parks and open spaces, as 

part of an interconnected network of high quality open spaces, cycle paths, green ways 

and footpaths.  This plan recognises the different needs of communities across the 

borough, the valuable role of local people in managing their open spaces, and the 

Council’s responsibility to protect our unique heritage not only for current residents, but to 

pass on to our children and those that come after them. 

 

This bold and strategic approach is being taken to ensure that Maidstone Borough 

Council’s Parks and Open Spaces continue to provide benefits for residents, visitors and 

wildlife, despite increased pressure on the resources available to deliver this service.  

 

Cllr David Pickett 

 

Chair of Heritage, Culture and Leisure Committee 

 

  

16



3 

 

Part 1 – Setting the Scene 
 

 

About this Plan 
 

A number of very significant challenges lie 

ahead for all local authorities.   

Housing growth places further pressure on 

public services if not planned for.  Every part 

of Maidstone Borough Council (MBC) must 

consider carefully how its services are 

delivered; and this is particularly important for 

non-statutory services, including Parks and 

Leisure. 

 

Despite these challenges MBC is ambitious 

in its aspirations for the borough.  MBC’s 

Strategic Plan recognises the importance of 

heritage, cultural and natural assets in 

ensuring Maidstone continues to be a thriving 

and attractive place to live, work and visit.  

Parks and open spaces are essential in 

supporting this, but we need to find different 

ways of working in order to continue to 

provide the service residents expect.   

 

This plan deals with how MBC will manage 

the parks and open spaces that are under its 

control. There are a number of other 

documents, explained further in Part 2 of this 

plan, which deal with borough wide issues 

such as Green and Blue Infrastructure, 

Biodiversity, Landscape Character, Air 

Quality, Heritage and Tourism. Whilst the 

Parks and Open Spaces 10 Year Plan may 

contribute towards the actions in these 

documents, it will not repeat existing borough 

wide targets. 

 

This plan sets out how we will face the 

challenges ahead, founded on the evidence 

base produced by Parks and Leisure for the 

Local Plan, alongside the results of the 

Residents’ Survey.  The plan sets out a route 

map for the short, medium and longer term 

so that MBC is well-prepared.  Some 

changes will take time to implement and it is 

imperative we start now to ensure a smooth 

transition to new ways of working.    

 
 

We need this plan to:1 
 
 

• Ensure high quality, attractive parks and 

open spaces are provided to serve a 

range of needs for our current and future 

residents and visitors, as Maidstone 

continues to grow; 

• Ensure that the provision and 

management of open spaces is 

sustainable in a future with less public 

sector funding; 

• Address the difficult issues we are facing 

and provide a sound basis for decision-

making;  

• Ensure that parks and open spaces 

effectively support the delivery of 

Maidstone’s Strategic Plan; 

• Provide a clear direction which MBC and 

its partners can unite around. 

 

The plan is in three parts: 
 
 

• Part 1 – provides background about 

Maidstone’s open spaces and states why 

they are so important; 

• Part 2 – sets out the challenges ahead; 

• Part 3 – sets out the way forward, our 

service’s Priorities and Principles and the 

actions needed. 

                                                
1 This plan covers parks, nature reserves, amenity 

space, play areas and allotments owned by Maidstone 

Borough Council.  Other spaces owned or managed by 

other organisations also make a valuable contribution, 

but this plan cannot prescribe actions for these.  

However, in reviewing greenspace provision, this plan 

takes these other spaces into account. 
 

17



4 

 

Open Spaces are Important to 

Maidstone’s Residents: 
 

• More than half of residents use an 

amenity greenspace regularly (at least 

once a week); 

• The most popular activities are walking 

and exercising; 

• Areas for children and young people are 

regularly used by over a third of 

residents (at least once a fortnight) 
 

(Residents Phone Survey 2015) 

Why we Need Parks and Open 

Spaces 
 

Our vision is for a greener, healthier 

Maidstone – valued, enjoyed and cared for 

by local people.     

 

At a time of reducing public resources, 

this ten year plan for Parks & Open  

Spaces will provide the strategic direction 

for the Parks service to ensure that this 

vision is attained.   

 

Parks and open spaces are vital parts of the 

fabric of communities; they are places where 

people relax, play sport, socialise and 

exercise.  They also underpin MBC’s 

priorities and, as important components of 

the green infrastructure network, are 

essential to the successful delivery of 

Maidstone’s Green and Blue Infrastructure 

Strategy.   

 

A theme throughout this plan is the need to 

ensure all the benefits2 provided by 

Maidstone’s open spaces are fully 

maximised.  This requires good planning, 

prioritisation and cross-sector working; 

working ‘smarter’ to deliver the most possible 

with the resources available. 

 

Economic Growth  

 

Investing in greenspaces can be a catalyst to 

regeneration.  There is good evidence that 

when open space projects are integrated with 

regeneration and economic development 

projects they provide more benefits, faster.  

Improved attractiveness of an area also 

increases visitor numbers and visitor spend.  

Open spaces can be attractions in 

                                                
2
 This is termed ‘multi-functionality’ in green 
infrastructure planning.  It requires that each site 
provides as many benefits as possible. 

themselves as venues for events, attracting 

new spend to the area. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Better Health  

 

Being physically active is strongly linked to 

better health and well-being, with lack of 

exercise shown to increase at least 20 

chronic health conditions, including heart 

disease, stroke, cancer, type 2 diabetes and 

mental health problems.3  Evidence shows 

that providing open spaces helps raise 

physical activity levels and can have a 

positive impact on low level mental health 

issues.4  Visits are influenced by distance 

from home, ease of access, the amenities on 

offer and the absence of vandalism and 

graffiti.  These are important considerations 

in attracting more people to open spaces to 

improve their health.  

 

Quality Environment 

 

                                                
3
 Department of Health (2011), Start Active, Stay 
Active: A report on physical activity from the four home 
countries', Chief Medical Officers. 
4
 Masterclass Briefing - Evidence Review: Spatial 
Determinants of Health in Urban Settings, Building 
Health; Planning and designing for health and 
happiness; 22 January 2010 University of the West of 
England. 

“Investments in greenspace have been 

shown to improve a region’s image; helping 

to attract and retain high value industries, 

new business start-ups, entrepreneurs and 

workers.” 
 

Natural Economy North West (2008) 

18



5 

 

All parks and open spaces, not just nature 

reserves, can contribute to better biodiversity.  

They can also help to improve the 

environment in other ways, such as reducing 

air pollution or helping to control flooding.  In 

line with the ambition to provide multiple 

benefits, environmental improvements will be 

sought in as many open spaces as possible, 

in a way that also supports the needs of 

communities.   

 

About Maidstone’s Parks and 

Open Spaces  
 

Parks and open spaces are part of the 

character of Maidstone.  There are many 

unique and historic greenspaces, including 

The Archbishop’s Palace Gardens, 

Penenden Heath and Brenchley Gardens, 

several large parks including Cobtree and 

Mote Park and many other open spaces 

providing local play areas, sports pitches, 

wildlife havens and spaces for festivals and 

events. 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

To make sure all residents have sufficient 

access to greenspace the Council has set out 

quantity standards for publicly accessible 

open space in its 2016 Local Plan.  These 

standards indicate the minimum size for 

greenspace types and the area to be 

provided per thousand residents, as well as 

the maximum distance that any resident 

should have to travel to a greenspace.   

The standards were devised to ensure that 

adequate greenspaces are provided on new 

housing developments; but they have also 

been applied across the rest of the borough 

to help ensure that all residents have access 

to a range of different types of open space.  

As well as addressing the quantity of open 

space, the quality of Maidstone’s open 

spaces was also evaluated recently. The 

Council’s Green and Blue Infrastructure 

Strategy considered the quantity and quality 

of publicly accessible open spaces, alongside 

the location and size of planned housing 

developments, and it has identified those 

areas of the borough where there is currently 

a deficit or over-provision of open space (or 

will be in future). 

The Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy 

identified the following current public 

accessible open space deficiencies across 

the borough: 

• Amenity Greenspace - Current deficits in 

Fant, High Street, Bearsted, Allington and 

North Wards; 

• Children’s Play Space - Fair in most of the 

borough with slight deficiency in urban 

Maidstone. There is also a shortage of youth 

play in Marden, Staplehurst, Headcorn and 

Sutton Valance; 

• Natural/Semi-natural Greenspace – 

Generally good but deficient in urban 

Maidstone, Staplehurst, Headcorn and 

Marden and slight deficiencies in Lenham, 

Coxheath and Sutton Valence. 

• Allotments - Deficient in most of the 

Maidstone urban area and Staplehurst. 

  

Maidstone Borough Council’s Parks and 

Open Spaces: 

• 425 hectares of greenspace 

• 30 large parks 

• 80 Neighbourhood greenspaces 

• 68 play areas 

• 700 Allotments plots across 12 sites 

• 4 Green Flag parks 

 

19



6 

 

How our Parks and Open 

Spaces are Managed 
 

Managing Maidstone’s open spaces includes 

strategic service planning and budgeting, 

from management planning for individual 

sites, liaison with site teams, contractors and 

local community groups, to the day-to-day 

operation of sites including maintenance and 

repairs.  

 

The Parks Team is responsible for overall 

managerial oversight, with site maintenance 

carried out by in-house teams. 

  

A number of other MBC teams are also 

involved in site management, including 

cleaning, waste removal, parking, events 

bookings and general enquiries.  Some sites 

are managed by other organisations on 

behalf of MBC and allotments are managed 

through The Maidstone Allotment 

Management Committee.                                             

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

As finances reduce, it will become 

increasingly difficult to continue to manage all 

sites to a high quality and to respond to the 

demands of visitors. 

 

It is not MBC’s intention to dispose of any of 

our parks and open spaces. However, there 

may be occasions where disposal of a small 

piece of land or open space will be 

considered where doing so could facilitate 

the achievement of broader objectives. It is 

also becoming increasingly necessary, as 

other local authorities have found, to consider 

alternative options for the management of 

existing stock and new stock emerging 

through the Local Plan process. 

 

Several local community groups also support 

managing some parks, varying from running 

small events to operating the site day-to-day. 

The input of local communities is vital to the 

smooth running of our sites and is to be 

particularly welcomed as public funding 

becomes more constrained.  It is also a good 

way for local communities to get involved in 

the management of their local park.  Through 

the delivery of this strategy, ‘Friends Of’ 

groups will be encouraged and local people 

will be supported in taking on more 

formalised management roles of some sites. 

  

What Maidstone’s residents say � 
 

• 75% of residents rate the quality of 

open spaces in Maidstone as good or 

very good 

• Natural open spaces are important to 

60% of residents  

• 90% of residents visit one of 

Maidstone’s parks every year 

(Resident’s Phone Survey 2015) 

 

20



7 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Profile of Mote Park - “The Jewel in Maidstone’s Crown” 
 

 
 

Formerly a country estate, Mote Park was purchased 

by the Council in 1929.  It is the biggest of  

Maidstone’s parks at 186 hectares (450 acres).   

Mote Park is one of the UK’s ten favourite parks  

(People’s Choice Awards) and receives over  

1 million visitors each year. 
 

Mote Park has a very active ’Friends’ group -  

‘The Mote Park Fellowship’.  The group meets 

regularly with MBC officers to provide feedback and  

find ways to improve the park.  The group run the  

Mote Park website, have weekly volunteering  

sessions, run a tree sponsorship scheme, assist  

with large events as well as organising their own,  

apply for funding toward Mote Park Projects and  

carry out conservation activities such as sowing  

meadows, planting trees, clearing unwanted growth  

and assisting the grounds maintenance team in the  

park. 

 

Mote Park is also an important venue for events  

and festivals, annually hosting the Ramblin’ Man 

festival, Race for Life and hosting The Radio 1 Big  

Weekend in 2009.  A multitude of other regular events 

take place in the park, including fun fairs, low key walks 

and runs, open air theatre, dragon boat racing, “It’s a 

knock out” and history and wildlife walks and talks. 

 

 

 

Fact File 
 

❀ Grassland, woodland, 30 acre 

lake and river  

❀ 4 play areas 

❀ 6 mile of paths 

❀ 5 Football and Rugby pitches 

❀ 5k walking/running track 

❀ Dementia walk with interactive 

signage 

❀ BMX track 

❀ Model railway 

❀ Café 

❀ Model boat and fishing clubs 

❀ Watersports – sailing, windsurfing, 

canoeing and rowing boat hire 

❀ Picnic Area 

❀ 3 car parks 

❀ Over 35 events expected in 2017 

❀ 100 veteran trees, 9 of the UK’s 

17 bat species and at least 28 

different mammal species 

❀ Arboretum in excess of 150 trees 

species.  

❀ 90 benches and 91 bins 

 

21



8 

 

Part 2 – Preparing for the Future 
 

Delivering Maidstone’s 

Strategic Priorities 
 

MBC’s Strategic Plan (2015-2020) sets out 

the direction that the Council will take to 

deliver services and improve the borough, set 

against a backdrop of reduced finances.  

Open spaces support the delivery of the 

Strategic Plan and directly contribute to many 

of the Action Areas.   

 

 

The Strategic Plan is supported through a 

range of other strategies, each setting the 

direction for specific areas of work.  An 

overview of how greenspaces and this plan 

contribute to delivering the Strategic Plan and 

several of the additional strategic documents 

is shown below (Strategic Plan) and on the 

following page. 

 

Contribution to Delivering Maidstone’s Strategic Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Priority 1: Keeping Maidstone borough an 
attractive place for all 

 

Maidstone Borough Council Strategic Plan 2015 -2020 - Vision 
That our residents live in decent homes, enjoy good health and a pleasant 

environment, with a successful economy that is supported by reliable transport 
networks. 

Priority 2 : Securing a successful economy 
for Maidstone borough 

 

Providing a clean 
and safe 
environment 
 

High quality open 
spaces contribute to 
Maidstone being a 
pleasant and 
attractive place to 
live and work. 

 

Encouraging good 
health and 
wellbeing 
 

Open spaces 
provide places for 
healthy exercise and 
support efforts to 
improve health 
inequality. 

 

Respecting the 
character and 
heritage of our 
borough 
 

Many of Maidstone’s 
open spaces have 
high environmental, 
heritage and 
biodiversity value. 

 

Ensuring there are 
good leisure and 
cultural attractions 
 

Parks host major 
events, as well as 
being attractions in 
themselves. 
 
 

 

Regenerating the 
town centre 
 

Urban parks add to 
the setting of the 
town, and an 
enhanced riverside 
route will contribute 
to regeneration. 

Securing 
improvements to 
the transport 
infrastructure of 
our borough 
 

Open spaces 
provide safe off-road 
transport routes. 

 

Promoting a range 
of employment 
opportunities and 
skills required 
across our 
borough 
 

Open spaces 
provide opportunities 
for apprenticeships 
and volunteers to 
gain skills. 

A home for 
everyone 
 

It is important that 
Maidstone creates 
attractive new 
communities; open 
spaces are essential 
in doing this. 

 

ACTION AREAS 

22



9 

 
 

Contribution to Delivering Maidstone’s Supporting Strategies 
 

Local Plan 
A new Local Plan is 

currently under 
examination 

 

Economic 
Development 

Strategy  
(2015-2031) 

 

Health and 
Wellbeing 
Action Plan 

 Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 

        

Policies DM22 and 
OS1 set out the 
standards and 
provision of new open 
spaces to ensure the 
Local Plan delivers 
sustainable 
development. 

 

Open spaces add to 
the quality of life, 
helping to attract 
profitable firms and 
talented people.  They 
also directly attract 
spend and generate 
income. 

 

Open spaces and the 
environment add to 
quality of life; it is 
essential these are 
fully utilised to 
address inequalities 
and to support 
sustainable 
communities. 

 

Maidstone Borough 
Council faces ongoing 
financial pressures.  
Each business unit 
must seek efficiencies, 
generate income and 
find new ways of 
delivering services.  

        

Integrated Transport 
Strategy 
Walking and Cycling 
Strategy 
Open spaces make an 
important contribution 
to providing safe, 
off-road, linking routes 
for sustainable travel 
modes. 
 

 

Destination 
Management Plan 
 

Mote Park is an 
exemplar venue for 
events. This plan 
supports aims to 
increase economic 
benefit to the wider 
Maidstone economy.  
Improvements to the 
River Medway route 
and open spaces will 
support economic 
regeneration aims.   

 

Health Inequalities 
Action Plan 2014-
2020 - Update 
There are pockets of 
health deprivation 
within Maidstone 
borough.  This plan 
directly supports 
several priorities of 
the Health Inequalities 
Plan by providing 
targeted and high 
quality facilities in 
areas of health 
deprivation, supports 
reducing childhood 
obesity, creating 
healthy and 
sustainable 
communities and 
reducing inactivity. 

 

Commercialisation 
Strategy 
Through delivering this 
plan, the Parks 
Service will seek more 
cost effective, 
sustainable ways of 
delivering services and 
seek to increase 
income. 
 

      

Green and Blue 
Infrastructure 
Strategy 
This strategy outlines 
development of green 
and blue infrastructure 
over 20 years, making 
a strong case for open 
spaces providing 
multiple benefits 
spaces, detailing 
areas of greatest need 
and the eight poorest 
quality open spaces, 
recommending these 
as improvement 
priorities. 

 

Town Centre Vision 
There are several 
parks and smaller open 
spaces in the town 
centre.  These areas 
are scarce, but add to 
the quality of place and 
are popular areas for 
quiet recreation. 

  

Asset Management 
Plan 
Open spaces estate is 
an important asset for 
Maidstone bCouncil. 

     

Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan (IDP) 
The IDP sets out 
requirements for 
development 
contributions and 
provision of open 
spaces.   

 

Festival and Events 
Strategy 
Mote Park in particular, 
along with the other 
larger parks, are 
important existing and 
potential venues for 
events. 

  

 

   

 

23



10 

 

Important Documents that link 

closely with the Parks and 

Open Spaces 10 Year Plan 

Below is a summary of the other MBC 

strategies and plans that are most closely 

linked to the Parks and Open Spaces 10 Year 

Plan. 

All of these documents have their own aims, 

objectives and targets. The Parks and Open 

Spaces 10 Year Plan deliberately does not 

repeat the aims and objectives of these other 

documents, but it is important that the 

relationship between them is understood:  

Maidstone Local Biodiversity Action Plan 

2009- 2014 

The Local Biodiversity Action Plan (LBAP) 

provides the opportunity to review current 

activities and issues, identify aims and set 

specific objectives and targets for action by a 

wide range of internal and external partners.  

It provides a much-needed overarching 

strategy for everyone involved in safeguarding 

and enhancing Maidstone’s natural 

environment. 

The Maidstone LBAP fits into a framework 

which consists of the UK BAP, The South-

East Biodiversity Strategy, Kent Biodiversity 

Action Plan (Kent BAP). 

The LBAP provides targets for a number of 

biodiversity opportunity areas across the 

borough regardless of ownership.  

It is planned that a light touch review will be 

carried out of the Maidstone LBAP as an 

action in the Parks and Open Spaces 10 Year 

Plan. 

 

 

 

Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy   

This document was produced by Planners 

and provides the green spaces and rivers 

input into the Local Plan. In the production of 

this document an audit was carried out to 

identify the type, size and quality of all of the 

publicly accessible green space in the 

borough. 

The information from this audit was used to 

agree new green space standards for the 

whole of the borough, and sets out a vision for 

the borough’s green and blue infrastructure 

for the next 20 years. 

An action plan is currently being produced to 

implement this vision. 

Health Inequalities Action Plan 2016 

This Plan sets outs plans to tackle health 

inequalities across the borough. This report 

highlights how living in areas of low income, 

poor employment and poor infrastructure 

increases the risk of ill health. Currently there 

is a 9 year difference in life expectancy 

depending on where you live in the borough. 

This report highlights how health inequality 

including inactivity will be dealt with. 

Maidstone Play Area Strategy 2017 

(DRAFT) 

This deals with the play element of the Parks 

and Open Spaces 10 Year Strategy by setting 

quality and accessibility standards for play 

across the borough going forward. It 

describes how the borough will ensure that 

quality play areas are provided across the 

borough. 

This document will be adopted in the later part 

of 2017. 

 

 

 

24



11 

 

Maidstone Playing Pitch Strategy and 

Sports Facilities Strategy (DRAFT) 

This is currently being produced by the 

Planning Team as part of a wider assessment 

of sport and leisure provision in the borough 

which also includes playing pitches. It will 

direct the Local Plan as to the future playing 

pitch and sports facility need of the borough. 

Maidstone Landscape Character 

Assessment 2012 (Amended 2013) 

This document identifies all of the landscape 

types and landscape character areas that 

occur in the rural part of the borough (i.e. 

outside of the main urban area of Maidstone). 

This then guides the type of development that 

would be acceptable in these areas. 

Maidstone Low Emission Strategy 2017 

(DRAFT) 

This document aims to achieve a higher 

standard of air quality across Maidstone in a 

number of ways including reductions in 

vehicle emissions through the promotion and 

uptake of low and ultra-low emission vehicles. 

 

  

25



12 

 

The Challenges Ahead 
 

Parks and open spaces are facing significant 

challenges.  The greatest of these is how to 

continue to deliver a quality parks and open 

spaces service with significantly reduced 

resources.   

 

Budgetary pressures are ongoing, with 

Government funding having ending. 

 

Park maintenance budgets have not 

increased for a number of years and are 

currently being reduced; however the net cost 

of managing the parks estate increases every 

year. MBC has already introduced 

management efficiencies and has worked 

hard to maximise income streams e.g. 

through concessions and events in parks.  

Current funding projections indicate that in the  

near future the costs of managing our 

greenspaces will exceed budget. 

 

 

MBC are committed, however, to continue to 

provide quality spaces where they are needed 

and to be ambitious and forward-looking.  We 

believe that through committed and steadfast 

delivery of this plan, not only will open spaces 

continue to provide their current benefits to 

Maidstone residents, but these benefits can 

be increased.  

 
 

Maidstone is also set to grow, with 17,000 

new homes planned from 2011 to 2031; 

increasing the population of Maidstone by 

42,000.  Additional greenspaces are being 

provided on some new housing 

developments, but not all.   

The long-term management of these new 

greenspaces is an important issue and one for 

which an agreed way forward is required 

between MBC and developers to ensure that 

these spaces do not place additional burdens 

on the Council. 

 

 

It is vital that the actions set out in this plan 

begin now.  Many of them are inter-connected 

requiring action across many areas.  Several 

of them are challenging.  Many also need 

other MBC services and local communities to 

take a stake in delivery.  To delay in taking 

forward these actions now will create further 

problems in the future, will make the 

challenges more difficult to address and will 

lead to a reduction in the quality of open 

spaces.   

 

 

 

 

 

Consider a range of Options 
 

Innovative approaches and non-traditional 

thinking will be needed in moving towards a 

secure future for our open spaces. This Plan 

will support a strategy for MBC in gearing-up 

for potential changes. As other authorities 

face similar pressures and difficult funding 

choices, some of the approaches they are 

adopting may provide useful learning for 

MBC.

Providing and managing open spaces 

represents just 5.6% of MBC’s gross 

annual expenditure   

26



13 

 

The service faces multiple and inter-connected challenges 

 

 

  

27



14 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Recognising the issues facing local authorities in securing the future of public parks and open 

spaces, the Government held an inquiry into the future funding of public parks. The report of the 

findings has just been published https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-

z/commons-select/communities-and-local-government-committee/inquiries/parliament-

2015/public-parks-16-17/  

 

The report recognises the challenges being faced by the parks sector and the need for a 

sustainable future to be secured. It also recognises the importance and value of parks and 

highlights particular benefits, including parks’ role in public health and well-being, in social 

cohesion, as vital green corridors for nature, in ameliorating the local effects of climate change 

and in supporting local economies and growth.  

 

Assessing the value of parks in terms of health and other benefits may be helpful in identifying 

and accessing funding from other sources including health, flood prevention or water quality. 

This wider contribution of parks and open spaces may be helpful in local authority funding 

decisions regarding their open spaces. 

 

Of particular interest to MBC, the report supports the concept of cross-sectoral funding e.g. 

accessing funds available under public health strategies such as the Obesity Strategy, and of 

Parks teams working with Health and Well-Being Boards; of accessing developer contribution 

funds to cover parks’ revenue requirements; the importance of understanding parks as part of 

wider networks of green infrastructure and the sharing of learning and good practice. 

(Department for Communities and Local Government Committee Public Parks report 2017) 

 

Rethinking Parks  

‘Rethinking Parks’ was a 2016 £1 million Big Lottery Fund, Heritage Lottery Fund and Nesta 

programme designed to find, support and test new business models to sustain the UK's public 

parks. ‘Rethinking Parks’ developed ideas for the future resourcing of public parks, ran pilot 

projects and produced the ‘Learning to Rethink Parks’ report.  

The report suggestions included: 

• Consider a ring-fenced revenue budget planned for the medium term and investigate other 

sources, including income from assets, concessions and events, as well as capital receipts, 

dowries, endowments and trusts, donations and sponsorship; 

• Deploy different funding models to help parks focus on sustainability, exploring ways to build 

alternative long-term income streams such as setting up endowments for parks;  

• The key messages from the work included ideas for future funding of open spaces, the value 

of involving partners and local people and the importance of encouraging innovation and 

sharing good practice; 

• The programme recognised that public parks need to diversify their funding sources to meet 

the size of cuts, but cautioned against looking to one answer to solve everything, favouring 

the approach of diversifying income sources and finding new ways to maintain open spaces 

at lower cost. 

•

28



15 

 

Part 3 – The Way Forward  
 

Our Priorities and Principles 
 

The Priorities and Principles are all 

necessary and mutually supporting (detailed 

on following page).  If delivery in one of 

these is lacking, then delivery in the others 

will be compromised.  All of the actions in 

this strategic plan contribute directly to 

delivering these Priorities and Principles.   

 

Focused Decision-Making means 

Effective Delivery 

 

As this 10 year plan progresses, many 

individual decisions will be taken.  These will 

each be measured against the Priorities and 

Principles to ensure that the vision and 

financial viability is achieved.  ‘Smarter’ 

ways of working will be found, which will 

include questioning the ways we do things. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
Underpinning this are the ways of working 

which we will integrate into all service areas: 
   

• Targeted and focused on outcomes: 

we will apply actions to the areas of 

greatest need as identified, as part of 

this Plan; 

• Evidence based: we will seek the best 

available evidence to support our 

decisions; 

• Forward planned: we will produce 

forward plans and assess progress;  

• Effective: we will question whether each 

decision and action provides the greatest 

benefit for the resources employed; 

• Efficient:  We will consistently seek to 

reduce resource input, while retaining 

quality and delivering the Priorities and 

Principles. 

 

 

Brenchley Gardens 

29



16 

 

Priority 1  Priority 2  Priority 3 

Open Spaces supporting 
Vibrant and Healthy 

Communities 
 

Open Spaces Fit for the 
Future 

 
Quality Spaces - Quality 

Service  

Principle 1A  Principle 2A  Principle 3A 

Open spaces will be 
accessible to all residents 

 
The open space needs of 
future populations will be 

met 
 

Quality open spaces will 
serve community needs 

All communities will have 
access to a range of facilities.  
These will include spaces 
where they can play, 
participate in sport, find quiet 
recreation and access nature.   

Our open spaces will be 
accessible for all abilities and 
will provide facilities to serve 
the needs of the local 
population.   

The Open Space Standards 
will provide a basis for this.  
Achieving this principle also 
links to Principle 1B and the 
need to provide a range of 
facilities on all sites to bring 
maximum benefits.   

 We will strive to ensure that all 
communities – future and 
existing – will have access to 
greenspaces.   

The Local Plan requires that 
new greenspaces are 
provided in housing 
developments or for 
contributions to be made to 
improve existing sites.   

We will ensure that new 
greenspaces are secured for 
the future and existing sites 
enhanced to provide good 
quality facilities.  This principle 
closely links with Principles 1A 
and 1B and the need to 
provide multiple benefits for 
communities. 

 Providing quality sites 
supports Principles 1A and 
1B.  However, with reduced 
resources it may not be 
possible to continue current 
levels of management for all 
sites.   

Open Space Management 
Standards will be developed to 
ensure that quality meets the 
needs of communities.   

Principle 1B  Principle 2B  Principle 3B 

Social, environmental and 
economic benefits will be 

maximised  
 

The long-term management 
of Parks and Open Spaces 

will be secured 
 

The Service will seek 
continual improvement - 

invest and enhance 

The need for greenspaces to 
provide multiple benefits is a 
thread throughout this plan.  
All spaces will provide multiple 
benefits to contribute to the 
social, environmental and 
economic needs of the 
communities which they serve. 

Social: increasing use of open 
spaces, supporting health and 
well-being and deprivation 
improvement and reducing 
ASB and vandalism; 

Environmental: Enhancing 
biodiversity and incorporating 
nature in our sites – and 
ensuring people can 
experience nature; 

Economic: Spaces will 
contribute to ‘quality of life’ 
and inward investment 
through place shaping as well 
as (where possible) 
generating income. 

 Sustainable service delivery 
models will be required to 
adjust to reduced resources.   

This will require both income 
generation and reduction in 
expenditure.   

It will also require changes in 
delivery structures and 
different delivery models.   

It will require communities to 
increase their involvement in 
open spaces. 

 

 The Service will continue to be 
ambitious in delivering quality 
open spaces for Maidstone.   

Forward planning will enable a 
programme of continuous 
improvement.   

We will seek external funding 
and work with other partners 
to secure this (links to 
Principle 2B).   

We will invest in those sites 
identified as being of greatest 
‘value’ or with the greatest 
potential to increase income 
(Principle 3A) to maximise this 
potential. 

 

 

30



17 

 

  

Delivering this Plan 
 

Actions are needed across a number of 

areas to deliver the Priorities and Principles 

of this Plan.  Many of these actions are inter-

connected, meaning that several actions 

need to progress at the same time. These 

actions and interconnections are shown in 

Appendix 1 of this report.   

 

The high level actions will be delivered on the 

ground through more detailed Annual 

Forward Plans which will set annual targets 

and review progress year on year.   

 

The diagram on the following page – ‘from 

strategy to delivery’ shows how the priorities 

and principles will be delivered through the 

Action Areas and annual plans. 

 

These annual plans will be agreed every 

year. The initial meeting could take place as 

a workshop to set short medium and long 

term objectives, which will then be broken 

down into annual achievable objectives. 

Progress on the previous year will be 

reviewed prior to agreeing the new objectives 

each year.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

These objectives will then filter down to the 

individual parks and open space 

management plans. 

 

Working with Partners 

MBC cannot deliver all these actions alone 

and we will need the support of a range of 

people and organisations to be successful. 

These partners will include other local 

authorities, parish councils, friends and 

community groups. In order to build 

productive relationships with partners it is 

essential that the appropriate resources are 

available. 

 

In meeting the open space demands of a 

changing population, it is important for MBC 

to be clear about its Priorities and Principles, 

and that specific position statements provide 

clarity on the future direction of the service.  

31



18 

 

 
 

32



19 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Position Statements 

 

1. Adoption of Open Space 
 

MBC will ensure that housing development provides a high quality environment with sufficient, 

high quality open spaces where needed for local people to enjoy.  These open spaces, though 

welcomed as assets for the borough, cannot place additional financial burdens on the Council.  

It will therefore be the responsibility of the Developer to make arrangements for the long term 

management of these open spaces. 

 

2. S106 Developer Contributions 

The Maidstone Borough Local Plan (2011 – 2031) Policies DM19 and OS1 together set out 

the Council’s requirements for the delivery of new and improved open space to support 

development within the Borough. The Council’s preference is that the needs for open space 

generated by new development should be accommodated within a development site to 

increase the overall quantity of provision. Where these needs cannot however be met in full 

on site, or in an off-site location, the Council will require financial contributions through 

planning obligations to ensure that necessary improvements to the quality of existing open 

space provision can be delivered. This Plan and its subsequent Action Plans, together with 

other relevant evidence, will be used by the Council to inform decisions about where such 

contributions can be allocated most effectively. 

 

3. Biodiversity 

MBC’s commitment to encouraging and promoting biodiversity has always been strong and 

will continue to be so in the future. Wherever possible we will set aside areas for biodiversity, 

these could be large sites such as woodland and meadows, or on smaller well used sites 

where it could be incorporated as part of the overall management. MBC will continue to work 

with partner organisations to provide maximum benefits from our open spaces for wildlife and 

residents 

 

4. MBC Nature Reserves 
 

MBC will plan to ensure that the management of its open spaces supports and enhances 

biodiversity and addresses fragmentation of wildlife habitats.  This will be achieved through 

the review of Maidstone’s Local Biodiversity Action Plan and the management of existing sites 

and not by the further development or adoption of new nature reserves. 

 

5. Ownership of MBC open spaces  

MBC has a strong commitment to its parks and open spaces and the value that they provide 

to residents, visitors and wildlife.  We are not seeking to reduce the amount of parks and open 

spaces we have or outsource the wholesale management of them at this time.  However, it is 

important to regularly review the way in which we manage these assets and we will be 

receptive to alternative management arrangements such as working with Parish’s and 

community groups. 

33



20 

 

  

C
o

b
tre

e
 M

a
n

o
r P

a
rk

 A
d
v
e

n
tu

re
 Z

o
n

e
 

34



21 

 

 Action Area 1: An Open Spaces Estate which best serves Maidstone’s needs 

Actions 
 

Four high-level Action Areas are identified which will deliver the Priorities and Principles of this 

Plan. 

 

 

 

 

Why do we need this Action Area? 

 

• To prioritise resources to where they are most needed; 

• To reduce our resources on areas which don’t best serve the needs of Maidstone’s 

residents; 

• To deliver more benefits (e.g. health and environment) where they are needed, despite 

reduced resources; 

• To generate increased income. 

 

How will we achieve this? 

• To ensure we target our resources fairly and effectively a Strategy for Maintenance and 

Development has been developed. This will identify the needs of our communities - 

social, economic and environmental – and determine where there is sufficient or not 

enough provision of each type of open space; 

• We will evaluate whether these needs are currently provided for.  The Strategy is 

described below, and includes a Quality: Value Matrix which measures the value (or 

benefits) provided by each open space (or its potential to provide them) against its current 

level of quality. 

 

As resources reduce, decisions will need to be made as to how we manage our open spaces. An 

ongoing process of gradually reducing budgets and reducing standards for all open spaces is not 

acceptable. A rational, objective approach is therefore needed to decide on: 

 

• The levels of maintenance at each site; 

• The range of facilities to be provided; 

• Management arrangements; 

• Targeting of improvements and investment. 

 

The framework for decision-making is complex and needs to take into account a range of factors.  

These include: 

 

• The need to support MBC’s priorities, existing strategies and wider agendas (social, 

environmental, health inequality and economic development); 

• Current levels of need for and provision of open space; 

• Future levels of need for and provision of open space with an increasing population. 

35



22 

 

The Quality/Value Matrix 

 

A matrix will be used to reach decisions about our open spaces, which fully incorporates the 

wider factors necessary to make decisions on a future strategy for individual open spaces.  

These decisions need to be transparent, rational and defendable, and the use of the matrix will 

support this. 

 

There are two elements to the matrix approach: 

 

1 Quality Rating – the quality survey data for each site will be used to represent the current 

quality of the site; 

2 Value Rating – each site will be assessed against a range of wider social, economic and 

environmental criteria to arrive at a value rating. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Value Rating 

In rating each greenspace for Value, the potential of the site should be borne in mind, and not 

simply the extent to which it is currently fulfilling its potential.  The interaction between ‘quality’ 

and ‘value’ is important in this regard; e.g. a site may not be fulfilling its potential value due to the 

current low quality. 

 

Economic 

 

The economic benefits of open spaces in contributing to the economy of a local area are well 

recognised and supported with a substantial body of research.  The ‘intensity’ of this varies; from 

an open space providing an attractive setting to new development which boosts house prices to 

an open space asset which itself directly attracts spend into the local economy through, for 

Invest to improve - important 
sites not fully fulfilling a need or 
their full potential. Draw up 
plans and business case to 

identify improvements which are 
required and use these plans to 

secure funding. 

Invest and maintain the existing 
high quality of these important 
sites to ensure the high value is 
retained. Plan to ensure this 
happens.  Identify ways of 

achieving high quality with less 
cost/producing more income. 

Question MBC's future role in 
management of these sites.

Re-evaluate levels of input by 
MBC.  May need to seek 
alternative management 

arrangements.

Quality 

V
a
lu
e
 

LOW 

HIGH 

HIGH 

36



23 

 

example, being a tourist attraction.  It is also important that those assets which can directly 

generate income to support the parks service do these most effectively.   

 

Two measures are proposed, which encompass the ability of the greenspace to directly 

contribute to the economic growth and development of Maidstone borough and to generate 

income for the sustainability of the service.    

 

1 Ability or potential ability of open space to promote economic development/ regeneration 

in the locality and/or support tourism. 

 

2 Ability or potential ability of open space to generate income for the parks service and/or 

Maidstone Borough Council. 

 

Social 

 

Open spaces support health, well-being and quality of life, and are important spaces and places 

which support community cohesion.  They may be valued by communities for their heritage or for 

creating a more attractive place in which to live.  This parameter captures the wider social 

benefits of open spaces. 

 

Three measures are proposed: 

 

3 The open space serves the population in one of the four Wards with levels of deprivation, 

contributing to (or with the potential to contribute to) improving health deprivation 

(Shepway North and South, High Street and Park Wood) and/or is identified as a key 

priority for improvement in Maidstone’s Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy.  

 

4 The open space makes an essential contribution in reaching the open space standards 

set out in the Local Plan (draft), or is in an area for which the open space standards are 

not being met (an area of deficiency) or will not be met in the future due to increased 

housing. 

 

5 The open space has inherent social value by virtue of, for example, having historic or 

landscape value, being an attractive setting for the community, being a site with high 

levels of community interest or a site for educational activity or through providing other 

demonstrable social benefits. 

 

Environmental 

 

Open spaces obviously provide a range of environmental benefits.  This not only includes 

biodiversity on the site itself, but can also include the site’s role in providing wider connectivity of 

ecological networks, in improving air quality, helping to regulate water flow and assist with flood 

management and other benefits; for example in providing pollination sources or protecting 

ground water quality.  As a principle, the maximum range of environmental benefits will be sought 

from sites managed by MBC, in line with the Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy.  This 

approach is termed ‘multi-functionality’; which in essence means that each site should contribute 

to a wide range of needs of the community and the environment.  

37



24 

 

 

Two measures are proposed: 

 

6 The open space has high biodiversity value (or potential to improve biodiversity value) – 

demonstrated through being designated for its interest, being highlighted in the Maidstone 

Biodiversity Action Plan for its habitats or species or being identified in the Green and 

Blue Infrastructure Strategy as an important site. 

 

7 The open space provides (or has greater potential in providing) wider environmental 

benefits, for example contributing to water management including flooding, as a 

connecting wildlife corridor or ‘stepping stone’ site or through contributing to improving air 

quality or climate change adaptation. 

 

Implementing the Matrix 

 

After assessment, each open space will fall into one of the four quadrants of the matrix.  This will 

help to indicate a possible course of action for each open space, but the final decision will require 

consideration by experienced staff.  The matrix provides a tool to help decision making by MBC 

in the context of wider MBC strategies and the Parks & Open Spaces 10 year Plan. 

Fundamentally it supports decision-making on the targeting of resources. 

 

In summary, the actions going forward could be: 

 

High Value – High Quality:  These open spaces are performing strongly; they fulfil an identified 

need to a high quality.  It is important that this standard is maintained to ensure that these 

functions continue to be provided.  Although these sites perform well there may also be areas in 

which the site could be improved.  Plans should be produced to identify areas of improvement 

and to ensure that the sites continue to maintain high quality. 

 

High Value – Low Quality:  These open spaces have a high value/serve a strong need but this 

not being delivered to its full potential due to low quality or inadequate facilities.  These open 

spaces should be a priority for investment.  Investment plans should be drawn up to quantify the 

improvements required and to develop a business case.  Funding could then be sought through 

s106, CIL or internal or external funding sources. 

 

Low Value – High Quality:  These open spaces are being maintained to a high quality but do 

not score highly across the value criteria.  This may be, for example, that they are in an area 

where there is a good supply of open space.  The future of these open spaces needs careful 

consideration on a case-by-case basis and taking into account the wider community.  In these 

cases the matrix should be used to provoke a more in-depth consideration of the open space and 

its role and not for making the final decision on the future of the site.  Even though the value 

score for the open spaces may be low, they may be highly valued by the local community.  

Options for these open spaces may include reducing management input, seeking ways to 

manage with less input (e.g. reducing bedding or planting) or divesting to a more community 

based management structure in the medium term. 

 

38



25 

 

Low Quality – Low Value:  These open spaces do not provide high value or serve a high level 

of need.  Although low quality, investment in these open spaces would not improve the value 

which the sites bring.  MBC therefore needs to consider future management of these open 

spaces.  Options may include reducing management input, seeking ways to manage with less 

input (e.g. reducing bedding or planting) or divesting to a more community based management 

structure in the medium term. 

 

 

 

 

  

39



26 

 

Action Area 2: Providing Open Spaces for a Changing Population 

 

 

Why do we need this Action Area? 

 

• Maidstone is growing: new housing and population change will increase the demand for 

open space, and we need to make sure it is provided and supports vibrant communities; 

• We need to make sure new open spaces provided by developers continue to be 

maintained to a high standard in the long term; and that the Council does not pay the cost 

of failure; 

• We need to make sure that existing open spaces are invested in so that more demand 

from an increased population does not degrade them; 

• We need to work smarter to deliver more health and well-being improvements for a 

changing population. 

 

How will we achieve this? 

 

• By understanding the supply of and need for open spaces, and forward-planning to 

ensure provision is made; 

• By setting up robust agreements with developers to ensure sustainable management; 

• By ensuring new spaces are well-designed; 

• Through seeking developer contributions to improve existing spaces to meet the identified 

need. 

  

Whatman Park 

40



27 

 

 

Action Area 3: Connected Delivery – Multiple Benefits 

 

 

Why do we need this Action Area? 

 

• Because many organisations and groups, as well as MBC, manage the open spaces 

which residents enjoy; 

• Because we understand that parks and open spaces need to deliver social, 

environmental and economic benefits better, and to do this means we need to work in 

partnership more effectively; 

• Because it will help us secure external funding; 

• Because there is a need for communities to take a more active stake in managing open 

spaces.  

 

How will we achieve this? 

 

• MBC will set up two external groups to plan strategically for the open spaces that 

Maidstone will need into the future, to progress ambitious projects and to seek funding: 

ü  Parks and open spaces are key elements of Maidstone’s ‘green infrastructure’.  MBC 

will lead an action-focused partnership to plan and deliver Maidstone’s Green and 

Blue Infrastructure network and larger strategic projects, with the objectives of 

maximising the social, environmental and economic benefits of open spaces and to 

champion open spaces and wider green infrastructure at a senior level. This 

partnership will draw in other organisations at a senior level to collaborate in 

developing strategic projects, raise funding and support delivery. 

 

ü  A Maidstone Parks and Open Spaces Stakeholder Group, led by the Parks and Open 

Spaces team, to include other organisations who manage public open spaces to work 

together in  addressing practical management issues, improve communications and to 

seek funding. 

 

• We will also support capacity-building, skills-development and independence in 

community groups. 

  

41



28 

 

 

Action Area 4: Working Smarter  

 

 

Why do we need this Action Area? 

 

• We need to be more effective, efficient and targeted to continue to deliver a good service 

with fewer resources; 

• We need to continually review our service to find better ways of working; 

• We need to increase external income and increase commercialisation opportunities; 

• Because different parts of MBC have a stake in making sure open spaces serve residents 

– we need to work as a whole council and not as disconnected units to ensure we work 

smarter and more collaboratively and maximise resources; to deliver high quality spaces 

which fully support communities. 

 

How will we achieve this? 

 

• The Parks Team will set up and lead an internal MBC working group to better coordinate 

activities in our open space sites; to ensure accountability and responsibility; to implement 

streamlining, remove duplication and increase effectiveness; 

• We will assess the income generation potential of sites; 

• We will increase external funding, particularly utilising the new external grouping 

established under Action Area 3; 

• We will consider all options of providing and managing our public open spaces in the 

future, including alternative non-MBC arrangements; 

• We will produce annual plans which will set ambitious targets and review implementation 

of this plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cobtree Manor Park 42



29 

 

Appendix1 – Detailed Action Plan. 

  

 
  

43



30 

 

 

44



 

Heritage, Culture and Leisure 4 July 2017 

Is the final decision on the recommendations in this report to be made at 
this meeting? 

Yes 

 

Maidstone Museums 20 Year Plan 

 

Final Decision-Maker Heritage, Culture and Leisure 

Lead Head of Service Head of Regeneration and Economic 
Development 

Lead Officer and Report 
Author 

Victoria Barlow, Museums Director 

Classification Public 

Wards affected All 

  

This report makes the following recommendations to this Committee: 

1. That the Museums 20 Year Plan attached as Appendix I be adopted. 

2. That the Museums Strategic Board be given approval to develop a detailed Action 
Plan in pursuit of fulfilling the Plan. 

 

  

This report relates to the following corporate priorities:  

• Keeping Maidstone Borough an attractive place for all - 

Ensuring there are good leisure and cultural attractions 

Respecting the character and heritage of our borough 

 

  

Timetable 

Meeting Date 

Heritage, Culture and Leisure 4 July 2017 

Agenda Item 13

45



 

Maidstone Museum 20 Year Plan 

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report lays out the vision for the future of the Maidstone Museum and 

Carriage Museum to ensure a sustainable future for the service. 
 
1.2 It highlights areas of opportunity for development and improvements to the 

service. 
 

1.3 The report identifies some of the next steps necessary to create an action 
plan for the delivery of this improved service. 

 

 
2. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The Maidstone Museum Strategic Board was created in 2016 in response to 

an earlier report approved by HCL in January 2015.  
 
2.2 The role of the Strategic Board is to provide direction and advice to officers 

in the development of a sustainable museum service, recognised as a leader 
in the South East and forming the cornerstone of the borough’s tourist 
economy. 
 

2.3  The Strategic Board is made up of representatives from MBC, museum      
stakeholder organisations, Kent County Council and representatives of 
private enterprise. They have been selected for their experience, knowledge 
and area of expertise. 

 
2.4  The 20 Year Plan reflects the vision of the Strategic Board working with 

officers.  
 

 
3. AVAILABLE OPTIONS 
 
3.1 Members can adopt the plan and give the Strategic Board a remit to 

continue to create a detailed action plan to take forward the 
recommendations in the 20 Year Plan. 
 

3.2 Members do not approve the plan.  
 

 
4. PREFERRED OPTION AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 Members approve the 20 Year Plan and give the Strategic Board a remit to 

continue to create a detailed action plan to take forward the 
recommendations in the Plan. 

 

4.2 This will provide a direction for forward planning, information gathering and 
the creation of a framework for development and fundraising. 

46



 

 
 
5. NEXT STEPS: COMMUNICATION AND IMPLEMENTATION OF THE 

DECISION 
 
5.1 Public consultation will be undertaken alongside consultation involving 

stakeholders. This will take a variety of forms at different stages of the 
action plan but is likely to include focus groups, surveys, workshops and 
informal feedback. 

 
 

 

 
6. CROSS-CUTTING ISSUES AND IMPLICATIONS 
 

Issue Implications Sign-off 

Impact on Corporate 
Priorities 

Keeping Maidstone Borough an 
attractive place for all - 

Ensuring there are good 
leisure and cultural 
attractions 

Respecting the character 
and heritage of our borough 

 

Head of 
Regeneration 
and Economic 
Development. 

Risk Management  [Head of 
Service or 
Manager] 

Financial None currently identified. [Section 151 
Officer & 
Finance 
Team] 

Staffing None currently identified. [Head of 
Service] 

Legal  [Legal Team] 

Equality Impact Needs 
Assessment 

EINAs will be completed for any 
changes to the service before 
they are implemented. 

Head of 
Regeneration 
and Economic 
Development 

Environmental/Sustainable 
Development 

 [Head of 
Service or 
Manager] 

Community Safety  [Head of 
Service or 
Manager] 

Human Rights Act N/A  

Procurement Any procurement will be 
undertaken using the Council’s 

[Head of 
Service & 

47



 

contract standing order 
procedures. 

Section 151 
Officer] 

Asset Management The 20 Year Plan will seek to 
ensure that eh museum assets 
are managed and protected. 

Head of 
Regeneration 
and Economic 
Development 

 
7. REPORT APPENDICES 
 
The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the 
report: 

• Appendix I: Maidstone Museum 20 Year Plan 

 
 

48



2017 Narrative Report

 | 
1

Maidstone Borough Council

MAIDSTONE MUSEUM 

20 YEAR PLAN
JUNE 2017

1

49



2

 |
 2017 Narrative Report   

Mission Statement

Maidstone Museums inspires, educates and challenges its visitors and users through the use of its collections, 

sta6 and buildings. We do this by telling the story of Maidstone, its people, their natural environment and the 

wider world in which they live, through the artefacts and specimens we collect and interpret.

Vision Statement
We will create a diverse and energetic community of people invested and involved in the museum and its 

collections.

We envision a future where the story of Maidstone and its people will be told through the objects in our care 

which, in turn, inspire learning, shared experiences and new ways of seeing.

We will achieve this by:

its collections

The things we value are:

2

50



2017 Narrative Report

 | 
3

1. Introduction

recommendations:

and to oversee delivery of that vision.  

Maidstone as a cultural and heritage destination and broaden its appeal to visitors.

e) Maidstone Museums should be a flagship museum service and a nationally recognised tourist 

destination; a service that is well used by the local community and of which they are proud; but 

economy.

To achieve this vision, the museum service will need to be attaining best practice in the following areas:

following membership:

3

51



4

 |
 2017 Narrative Report   

and, indeed, reputational damage.

museum performs and needs to continue to play in the identity of Maidstone itself and the long history it 

provides.

4

52



2017 Narrative Report

 | 
5

2. Context – the national, regional and local picture

Maidstone and its economy.

the Strategy will provide clear paths to cooperation and partnership with arts organisations across the county. 

their visit to the town, although it is recognised that the museums are only one part of the heritage o6er locally. 

Maidstone.

3. Maidstone Museums: The current service

5

53



6

 |
 2017 Narrative Report   

3.1 Collections
The museum collections are at the heart of everything Maidstone Museums o6er and the collections of over 

Three collections are of exceptional national importance:

Japanese –

most comprehensive collection in public ownership outside a national museum. The 3,000+ artefacts include 

6

54



2017 Narrative Report

 | 
7

The Brenchley collection –

7

55



8

 |
 2017 Narrative Report   

The Tyrwhitt-Drake Carriage collection –

the building has severe limitations in terms of facilities and environment for visitors and schools. Thus it is only 

currently open in summer and has a limited number of visitors. These limitations will need to be addressed if 

human mummies); county wide social history material; worldwide ethnography; over 20,000 coins and medals; 

3,500 prints. 

8

56



2017 Narrative Report

 | 
9

3.2 Cost of service

over the next 5 years.

on hand not only to impart historical and collections information but also to direct and advise visitors who are a 

bit lost.

Income generation is actively being pursued by all departments within the museum through successful 

Sponsorship and partner funding is actively sought for both project and revenue funding, and the museum 

organisation.

3.3 Audiences

museums sites whether for a general visit, school trip or event.

was inevitable.

stealing plastic dinosaurs! 

life in Maidstone in the past and the future.

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

9

57



10

 |
 2017 Narrative Report   58



2017 Narrative Report

 | 
11

4. A vision for Maidstone Museums 

4.1 Quality of collections and storytelling

collections of national and international importance. In addition they hold collections which tell the stories of 

the people of Maidstone and its surroundings throughout history. The audit of current collections means that 

the museum will not only hold the objects with the most relevance to the borough but will also show where 

there is a need for development. It is clear that little contemporary collecting has been carried out which means 

that there is an imbalance in social history and the ability to tell the story of recent history. This is especially 

important at a time when Maidstone is seeing unprecedented growth in both the numbers and diversity of its 

residents.

a wealth of stories to be told using the collections. Artefacts from all over the world sit alongside the everyday 

much wider world just as today increasing numbers of residents have experience of life elsewhere. It is those 

share their own. 

itself which are presently cramped despite containing individual objects and artefacts of enormous importance 

as the costume gallery and what stories they need to tell in relation to the overarching purpose of the museum. 

sought to implement them.

11

59



12

 |
 2017 Narrative Report   

4.2 The Carriage Museum

for the collection. The carriage collection, as has been noted, is of considerable importance nationally and 

engineering and maths as well as local history

At present, the displays are very crowded and poorly explained. Some of the less important items could be 

removed from display to improve the appeal and integrity of the overall collection. There are considerable 

step is to draw up a detailed proposition to enable the costs to be established and the appropriate funding then 

sought for implementation.

12

60



2017 Narrative Report

 | 
13

4.3 Community relationships

can not operate without the cooperation of those whose story it purports to tell. The days of the curatorial voice 

loved and understood shared history.

13

61



14

 |
 2017 Narrative Report   

4.4 Lack of physical access

so both are of extreme importance to the built heritage of Maidstone in their own right, let alone the uses 

they contain. Whilst these provide attractive surroundings for the collections, they are often impractical for 

storey lift..

routes around the museums, these would depend heavily on funding and approval from the planning authority. 

museum more comprehensible and intelligible, and at the same time improve access for disabled visitors. 

enable much easier visitor flows, with the opportunities to use some of the outdoor spaces more purposefully. 

4.5 Lack of collections expansion space

attic and former gallery. The museum currently has no expansion space and a hold was placed on collecting in 

to show all the collections at once and so storage is essential for the protection of collections. In order for the 

museum to represent the history of the borough thoroughly, there is a need to continue and, as noted above, 

items into the collection and we would be unable to represent life in a large part of the 20th and all of the 21st 

centuries.

4.6 Governance
The museum service currently manages and cares for collections and buildings as well as operating the museums. 

is neither a realisable asset nor will its ownership be passed to another organisation even if stewardship is. This 

become the property of any new entity.

maximum of 5 years. 

retains a claim over the use of various spaces in the museum. 

most sustainable solution for Maidstone Museums. 

14

62



2017 Narrative Report

 | 
15

Whatever form of governance is introduced, the branding of the all di6erent parts of the service as Maidstone 

the importance of our collections and stories to the town and its residents. None of this detracts from the historic 

importance of the original collections, their name recognition and contribution to the current museum, but if the 

4.7 Opening Hours
There is an obvious dilemma in matching the costs of opening the museums against the pattern of visitation, such 

that the buildings are open during the most popular core times and closed when visitor numbers are low. The main 

the programme of evening lates.

The main museum is also the location of the visitor information centre, and plainly this is of limited value as it is 

considered above.

15

63



16

 |
 2017 Narrative Report   

4.8 Funding
The report referred to in the introduction proposed the allocation of a capital budget set out in Appendix 3 to 

improves the learning o6er and improvements to the outside of the building to attract visitors.

With continuing cuts to public spending by successive governments, it is clear that this cannot be sustained. Whilst 

the museum has already made moves to increase and diversify its own income streams, this currently covers only 

to carry out transformative capital projects such as new museum buildings or the development of refurbished 

galleries as will be necessary here. It has become clear more recently that, not only is competition becoming 

facilities. The challenge to management will be to attract investment from external sources for a programme of 

16

64



2017 Narrative Report

 | 
17

5. Next Steps

funding support. The following table contains proposed actions in the immediate period and the medium and long 

terms as a starting point.

6. Maidstone Museums 2037

years time, if at least some of the hopes and opportunities set out in this report are realised.

among local people.

share their own reactions to our artefacts.

birthday party. They may be joining the exercise class in the library, the discussion group in the art gallery or browsing 

It is vital that the museums lose their image of being places to visit with school or with bored grandchildren and instead 

become a community hub where people feel at home but open to new ideas, challenges or debate. 

Short Term 1-5 years Medium Term 6-10 years Long Term 11-20 years

achieved

New governance model introduced Museum café move

Japanese gallery move

and phase 1

Storage improvement plan 

implemented

Advisory panels formed and 

operating

Storage improvement plan 

completed Museums or museum of the Year

only launched

satisfaction

17

65



18

 |
 2017 Narrative Report   

The stories told by displays and exhibitions will be exciting, modern and created with societies and members of 

the community. They will tell interesting stories in exciting and interactive ways. These people might be chosen 

be less reliant on temporary exhibitions to bring repeat visits as the permanent displays will be change more 

also include interaction with volunteer gallery guides who may be costumed but who can deliver information in 

a much more tailored way for visitors. 

multiple voices and previously unheard stories.

panel will help guide development of new materials and reactions to inevitable curriculum changes.  In the 

a vital part of the museums development is to move beyond the walls of the museum buildings into those parts 

of our community and borough where people not currently visiting are found or would be comfortable to go. 

these events can be built in. 

of museum content, we will continue to build more formal connections with local societies and organisations, 

individual researchers, academics , university departments and other museums through specialist subject 

ability of the museums to generate income and pay for itself will have grown and the solution chosen after the 

18

66



2017 Narrative Report

 | 
19

Appendix 1.

MUSEUM RUNNING COSTS 2017–18

Museum Carriage Museum Learning Service  Total

Sta^ costs £497,800 £14,360 £63,880 £576,040

Property costs - 

maintenance (planned 

and reactive)

£88,000 £10,200

-

£98,200

Property costs - Non-

domestic Rates

£111,340 £7,460
-

£118,800

Property costs- Gas and 

electricity

£58,400 £4,390
-

£62,790

Other property costs £66,040 £5,710 - £71,750

Stock for shop £29,800 £400 - £30,200

Collections Management £5,000 - - £5,000

Exhibitions and events £18,000 - - £18,000

Other controllable costs £56,840 £3,390 £17,910 £78,140

SUB TOTAL RUNNING 

COSTS

£931,220 £45,910 £81,790 £1,058,920

Income- Room hire -£14,000 - - -£14,000

Income- Children’s 

parties

-£15,000
- -

-£15,000

Income- Exhibitions/

events

-£20,600
- -

-£20,600

Income - Retail sales -£43,000 - - -£43,000

Income -Grant - - -£77,600 -£77,600

Income-other -£15,200 -£2,000 -£24,300 -£41,500

TOTAL INCOME £107,800 £2,000 £101,900 £211,700

NET RUNNING COSTS £823,420 £43,910 -£20,110 £847,220

Recharges- Central 

charges

£42,100 £6,010 £2,270 £50,380

Recharges- 

Departmental Overheads

 £172,330 £5,250 £1,750 £179,330

RECHARGES  £214,430 £11,260 £4,020 £229,710

TOTAL MUSEUM BUDGET £1,037,850 £55,170 -£16,090 £1,076,930

Depreciation £645,000 £22,500 - £667,500

19

67



20

 |
 2017 Narrative Report   

Appendix 2 – SWOT Analysis

Strengths Weaknesses

spaces

visitor experience 

Opportunities Threats

learning

sponsorship

direction and priorities

20

68



2017 Narrative Report

 | 
21

Appendix 3 – Planned Capital expenditure

Project Planned Capital Expenditure 2017-2018

Programme detail 

Total 

cost 

(000)

MAIDSTONE 

BOROUGH 

COUNCIL 

Other

Egyptian 

Gallery to 

Ancient 

Civilisations 

Gallery

improve a tired and shabby gallery. 

200 10

fundraising 

30 30

Install a lift to provide full access to 3 galleries 

families with buggies and wheelchair users.

110 110

HLF up to 

£79k, MMF 

fundraising 

£90k

Improves security

10 10

able to carry out any other duties.

20 20

External 

improvements

Scope improvements to outside of building to 

consent. 

5 5

exits. 

3 3

Replace 

electrical 

distribution 

boards and 

upgrade 

wiring

standards.

21

69



22

 |
 2017 Narrative Report   

Potential capital Projects years 3-5 Programme detail       Est. costs 

(000) 

External

Improve visibility of museum entrance from 25

Cafe

100

can be closed without detriment to the rest of the 

museum.

30

Galleries

Subject to advice from acoustics and lighting 

consultant.

20

for sta6.

100

Swap Japanese gallery with small temp 

exhibition space during paid for exhibitions and during exhibition 

to be provided by Museum.

30

Withdrawing room floor The existing sprung floor causes objects to move in 

display cases and presents challenges for visitors 

with mobility issues.

20

General

stores.

To care for the collections 100

Improve museum IT to enable secure Issues with the current system mean that 

loss of digital database

No need for patrolling of galleries for security. 

Assumed to be an extension of the existing intruder 

alarm system.

25

space to meet government indemnity 

standards 

Save sta6 time and money for temporary insurance 

cover for incoming loans

1

10

531

22

70



2017 Narrative Report

 | 
2371


	Agenda
	8 Minutes of the meeting held on 6 June 2017
	11 Committee Work Programme
	12 Maidstone Parks & Open Spaces 10 Year Plan
	Enc. 1 for Maidstone Parks & Open Spaces 10 Year Plan

	13 Museum 20 Year Plan
	Enc. 1  Museum 20 Year Plan


